2008

Jennifer Hawks v. Jeff Hawks : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The jurisdiction of this case is vested with the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code Annotated §78A-4-103(h).

REFERENCE TO PARTIES

For purposes of clarity, the Petitioner/Appellee will be referred to as Wife, and the Respondent/Appellant will be referred to as Husband. (Rule 24(d) Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. The Court committed an error in awarding alimony without making a determination of the Wife's earning capacity or ability to contribute to her own support.
- II. The Court committed an error in the amount of alimony that was awarded to the Wife.
- III. The Court committed an error in reducing the Husband's budget by deducting his

\$400 per month travel expense.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The failure of the trial court to consider one of the factors required in determining alimony constitutes an abuse of discretion. *Rehn v. Rehn*, 974 P.2d 306 (Utah App. 1999) The Court will not overturn a trial Court's alimony ruling as long as the court supports its ruling with adequate findings and exercises its discretion according to the standards set by the Appellate Courts. *Willey v. Willey*, 914 P.2d 1149, 1152 (Utah App. 1996)

The Court's factual findings are reviewed for clear error and its conclusions of law for correctness, affording the court some discretion in applying the law to the facts. *Arnold v. Arnold*, 177 P.3d 89 (Utah App. 2008) A trial court's conclusion of law with respect to an alimony award is reviewed for correctness, and a trial court's findings of fact will not be reversed unless they are clearly erroneous. *Breinholt v. Breinholt*, 905 P.2d 877, 879 (Utah App. 1955)

DETERMINATIVE LAW

Arnold v. Arnold, 177 P.3d 89 (Utah App. 2008)

Breinholt v. Breinholt, 905 P.2d 877, 879 (Utah App. 1955)

Child v. Child, 194 P.3d 205 (Utah App. 2008)

Childs v. Childs, 967 P.2d 942 (Utah App 1998)

Jones v. Jones, 700 P.2d 1072, 1075 (Utah 1985)

Rehn v. Rehn, 974 P.2d 306 (Utah App. 1999)

Schaumberg v. Schaumberg, 875 P.2d 598, 602 (Utah App. 1994)

Stevens v. Stevens, 754 P.2d 952, 958-59 (Utah App. 1988)

Willey v. Willey, 914 P.2d 1149, 1152 (Utah App. 1996)

Rule 24(a)(9) Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure

Rule 24(d) Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure

Utah Code Annotated §30-3-5(7)(a)(i)-(iv) (1998)

Utah Code Annotated §30-3-5(8)(a)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Petition for Divorce was filed on January 10, 2007. A trial was held on May 15, 2008. The court took the matter under advisement, and made a ruling from the bench by videotape on May 16, 2008. The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Divorce Decree were signed by Judge Allphin on July 2, 2008, and entered with the clerk on the same date. The Respondent filed a Notice of Appeal on July 25, 2008.

During the course of the trial Judge Allphin received testimony from Dr. Kristy Farnsworth, PhD, who performed an analysis of employability of the Wife. Dr. Farnsworth testified that the Wife had the capacity to earn an income in the range of \$18,720 to \$21,490 per year or \$1,560 to \$1,790 gross income per month. Judge Allphin did not make a finding as to the Wife's ability to earn an income and contribute to her own support. Judge Allphin found that the Wife had reasonable needs of \$2,238 per month, that the Husband had been paying temporary alimony to the Wife in the sum of \$1,300, leaving her with a deficiency of \$938 per month. Judge Allphin found that if the Wife was awarded an additional \$600 in alimony, that would leave her with a net need of \$338 per month. (Paragraph 15 of the

Findings of Fact). The Court then found, “The Court received testimony from Dr. Kristy Farnsworth, PhD, as to the Wife’s ability to earn an income. The Court finds that the Wife has sufficient ability to get a part-time job to supplement that income to make her whole.” (Findings of Fact, paragraph 16) Based upon these findings, Judge Allphin required the Husband to pay the Wife alimony in the sum of \$1,900 per month. (Findings of Fact, paragraph 17)

The evidence showed that the Husband had travel expenses of \$400 per month. In determining the Husband’s monthly needs, Judge Allphin found, “The Court finds that the Husband’s reasonable monthly needs amount to \$3,207 per month. The Court reduces the Husband’s budget by \$400, which is the sum listed for travel.” (Findings of Fact, paragraph 13) Judge Allphin gave no explanation for why he did not make a determination of the Wife’s ability to earn an income and to contribute to her own support. Likewise, Judge Allphin made no findings as to why he arbitrarily reduced the \$400 for travel from the Husband’s budget.

The Husband maintains that Judge Allphin was required by state statute and by case law to determine the Wife’s earning capacity and her ability to contribute to her support, but failed to do so. The Husband also alleges that the Court inappropriately reduced the Husband’s budget by \$400, which was a valid expense incurred for his travel. The Court did not give any explanation nor make any findings to support his reduction in the Husband’s budget.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The parties were married on January 9, 1976. The parties were separated in September 2005. At the time of the divorce trial, the son was 30 years of age, and the daughter was 24 years of age. (Transcript, page 16)
2. The Wife (Petitioner/Appellee herein), at the time of the trial, was 52 years of age. (Respondent's Exhibit 11, page 2)
3. The Wife filed a divorce proceeding on January 10, 2007. A temporary hearing was held before Commissioner David S. Dillon on April 26, 2007. At that hearing, the Wife requested temporary alimony in the sum of \$1,300 per month, and the Husband (Respondent/Appellant herein) agreed to pay that sum. The alimony became effective February 1, 2007. The Husband continued to pay the \$1,300 in alimony through the 15th day of May, 2008, when it was increased by Judge Allphin's Order, to \$1,900 per month. (Findings of Fact, paragraph 17; Divorce Decree, paragraph 7)
4. The court found that the Husband's gross income is \$82,055 per year, and that his net after taxes is \$5,121.43 per month. (Findings of Fact, paragraph 12)
5. The court found that the Husband's reasonable monthly needs amount to \$3,207 per month. The court reduced from the Husband's budget, \$400, which was listed for travel. (Findings of Fact, paragraph 13) Judge Allphin did not make any findings as to why the \$400 per month was reduced from the Husband's budget.
6. The trial court found that after deducting \$1,300 per month alimony that had been paid by the Husband under the temporary order, and the Husband's needs from his

income, the Husband had a surplus of \$621 per month. (Findings of Fact, paragraph 14)

7. The trial court found that the Wife's reasonable needs were \$2,238 per month. The Husband had been paying \$1,300 in temporary alimony, which left the Wife with a deficiency of \$938 per month. The court found that if the Husband paid an additional \$600 per month in alimony to the Wife, she would be left with a deficiency of \$338 per month. (Findings of Fact, paragraph 15)
8. Judge Allphin found that the Wife had sufficient ability to obtain a part time job to supplement her need of \$338 per month. (Findings of Fact, paragraphs 15, 16) Judge Allphin did not enter any findings as to whether or not the Wife could work full time, or the income she could make if she worked full time, or any reasons for not imputing to her a full time wage.
9. The Wife last worked in 1975, at Newgate Mall, selling pop. During their marriage, she worked for a limited time as a care giver for her sister's boy, making approximately \$300 per month. (Transcript, page 40, 41)
10. The Wife has a GED, which was acquired after the parties' separation, and approximately 1-1½ years before the trial. (Transcript, page 71)
11. The Husband requested, and the court issued a Protective Order against the Wife on April 4, 2007. The Wife was subsequently prosecuted for having violated that order and was required to serve a jail sentence. (Transcript, page 62-63)
12. The Wife was put on probation because of the violation of the 2007 protective order.

Probation required the Wife to obtain a job. The Wife obtained a job at Subway in Layton. On the second day, she was put at the front desk working with the public. She quit her job on that date because, "...I wondered if Jeff had slept with every girl that walked through the door, ok...?" (Transcript, page 65-67)

13. The Wife testified that since January 2003, she had not applied for a job except for the one at Subway. In response to the question about her not applying for a job, she stated, "Why would I when Jeff gave me all this spending money? I'm not that dumb." (Transcript, page 68-69)
14. The Wife stated that she would like to get a job, but that she had done nothing to find a job since the parties' separation and the filing for divorce, with the exception of the Subway job. (Transcript, page 70)
15. The Husband testified that the Wife had the capacity to support herself, and that there was nothing that would prevent her from contributing to her own expenses. (Transcript, page 115-116)
16. The Wife did not testify that she had any health problems that would prevent her from working.
17. Dr. Kristy Farnsworth was called by the Husband as an expert vocational specialist. Dr. Farnsworth has been analyzing employability of individuals for approximately 20 years. Dr. Farnsworth did an evaluation of the employability of the Wife. Her report is marked as Respondent's Exhibit 11. (Transcript, page 154-156)
18. Dr. Farnsworth concluded that the Wife, as of the time of the divorce trial, could

obtain employment starting at \$18,720, and up to \$20,800 per year, as a receptionist or information clerk, and up to \$21,490 per year as a bill or account collector. She concluded that the Wife could earn a higher income after completion of vocational training. (Transcript, page 160-161; Respondent's Exhibit 11)

19. The Wife's counsel, in his closing argument, conceded that the Wife could make about \$6.40-\$6.50 per hour. (Transcript, page 202)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

- POINT I: THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY DETERMINING THE WIFE'S ABILITY TO EARN AN INCOME AND CONTRIBUTE TO HER OWN SUPPORT.
- POINT II: THE TRIAL COURT INAPPROPRIATELY REDUCED THE HUSBAND'S MONTHLY EXPENSES BY \$400, WHICH IS THE SUM THAT WAS LISTED FOR TRAVEL.
- POINT III: MARSHALING THE EVIDENCE.

ARGUMENT

POINT I : THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY DETERMINING THE WIFE'S ABILITY TO EARN AN INCOME AND CONTRIBUTE TO HER OWN SUPPORT.

Section 30-3-5(8)(a) U.C.A. states that the court **shall** consider the factors set forth in that section in determining alimony. The term **shall** is mandatory, and not permissive. Sub paragraph (ii) states, "The recipients earning capacity or ability to produce income;"

The obligations of a trial court in determining alimony have been clearly established by the Utah courts. In the case of *Rehn v. Rehn*, 974 P.2d 306, 310 (Utah App. 1999), the

court stated,

“In determining whether to award alimony and in setting the amount, a trial court must consider the needs of the recipient spouse; the earning capacity of the recipient spouse; the ability of the obligor spouse to provide support; and, the length of the marriage. See Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-5(7)(a)(i)-(iv) (1998); Jones v. Jones, 700 P.2d 1072, 1075 (Utah 1985); see generally Childs v. Childs, 967 P.2d 942 (Utah Ct.App.1998). “Failure to consider these factors constitutes an abuse of discretion,” Stevens v. Stevens, 754 P.2d 952, 958-59 (Utah Ct.App.1988), resulting in reversal “unless pertinent facts in the record are clear, uncontroverted, and capable of supporting only a finding in favor of the judgment.” Schaumberg v. Schaumberg, 875 P.2d 598, 602 (Utah Ct.App.1994). Moreover, the trial court must make detailed findings on all material issues, i.e. the Jones factors, which “should ... include enough subsidiary facts to disclose the steps by which the ultimate conclusion on each factual issue was reached.” Stevens, 754 P.2d at 958 (citation omitted).”

In this case, Judge Allphin made no findings of facts or determination as to the Wife’s ability to earn an income and to contribute to her own support. The court’s findings were limited to a finding that the wife had sufficient ability to get a part time job to supplement her income so she could make \$338 per month. (Findings of Fact, paragraph 15, 16) The Wife, during the course of the trial, testified that she wanted to work, but had not attempted to find a job since 2005. (Transcript, page 70) The only exception was when she worked for Subway for 1½ days after the parties’ separated (Transcript, page 43). The Husband had obtained a protective order against the Wife. The Wife violated the protective order and was criminally charged. As part of probation, she was required to get a job. She only worked at the job for 1½ days before she quit. When the wife was asked why she had not applied for employment, she stated, “Why would I when Jeff gave me all of this spending money? I’m not that dumb.” (Transcript, page 69, lines 11-12)

The Wife did not present any evidence indicating that she was physically unable to work. She had suffered a thumb or wrist injury when she got mad and threw something. (Petitioner's Exhibit 11, page 4) Dr. Kristy Farnsworth, a vocational specialist, testified that the thumb injury would not impair her ability to hold the jobs identified in Dr. Farnsworth report. (Transcript, page 172-173)

Dr. Farnsworth, who is qualified as a vocational specialist, and who had 20 years of experience in analyzing the employability of individuals, testified that the Wife could make between \$18,720 and \$20,800 per year in the job market. (Transcript, page 174; 169) \$18,700 annually would amount to \$9.00 per hour for 40 hours per week, for a gross income of \$1,560 per month. \$20,800 per year would amount to \$10.00 per hour for a 40 hour work week, for a gross income of \$1,733 per month. Minimum wage in the State of Utah is currently \$6.55 per hour, or \$1,135 per month. The Wife's attorney, in his closing argument, testified that he believed the Wife could make \$6.40 or \$6.50 per hour. (Transcript, page 202)

At the time of the divorce, the Wife was 52 years of age. No evidence was produced before the court indicating that she could not work or make the income as indicated in Dr. Farnsworth's report.

Under Utah law, it is mandatory that the trial court determine the ability of the spouse to produce a sufficient income for herself, and her ability to contribute to her own support. It is an abuse of the trial court's discretion when it fails to make this finding. It is clear that Judge Allphin did not make a finding as to the Wife's ability to contribute to her own support. A finding that the Wife could work part time to supplement her needs of \$338 per

month does not satisfy the requirement of both state statute and the Appellate Court's rulings. This court, in the case of *Willey v. Willey*, 914 P.2d 1149, 1152 (Utah App. 1996), stated, "We will not overturn a trial court's alimony ruling, so long as the court supports its ruling with adequate findings, and exercises discretion according to the standards we have set." The alimony award in this case, which required the Husband to pay \$1,900 per month, is not adequately supported by the findings, since the Wife's ability to contribute to her own support was not determined. The court found that the Wife's needs were \$2,238 per month, and that the Husband had been paying \$1,300 per month alimony, and that therefore, she had a deficiency of \$938 per month. If the court had imputed to the Wife the income established by Dr. Farnsworth, she would have had adequate sums to meet her deficiency, and therefore, there would be no justification for requiring the Husband to pay more than \$1,300 per month alimony.

The Husband requests this court to determine the income capacity of the Wife, or, in the alternative, to remand this back to the District Court, and require the District Court Judge to determine the income capacity of the Wife, and adjust the award of alimony accordingly.

**POINT II:
THE TRIAL COURT INAPPROPRIATELY REDUCED THE HUSBAND'S
MONTHLY EXPENSES BY \$400, WHICH IS THE SUM THAT WAS LISTED
FOR TRAVEL.**

The Husband's budget was Exhibit 2. The exhibit was received into evidence without any objection from the Wife. (Transcript, page 92-93) The Husband testified that he was required to do extensive traveling with his employment. (Transcript, page 129, 130)

The trial court reduced the Husband's budget by \$400, which is the sum he had listed for travel. (Findings of Fact, paragraph 13) The court gave no reason for this reduction. In discussing a court's finding as to the reasonable needs of a party, the Court of Appeals, in the *Willey v. Willey* case stated:

"The sheer absence of any evidence upon which to base factual findings regarding these adjustments makes them unacceptable. To allow the trial court to impose speculation on the adjudicatory process violates the basic premise upon which our judicial system is founded. All parties are absolutely entitled to a fair and impartial hearing and adjudication of their affairs. That did not occur in this case. We cannot accept the adjustments made in the parties' monthly expenses crafted by the trial court in the apparent pursuit of round numbers. For purposes of our correction of the divorce decree, we accept the amounts the parties submitted to the trial court as reflective of their reasonable financial needs at the time of trial."

Willey v. Willey 914 P.2d 1149, 1152 (Utah App. 1996)

This court, in the case of *Rehn v. Rehn*, addressed the trial court's responsibility in determining reasonable monthly expenses, the court stated:

"The court must state that 'the calculation of monthly expenses is reasonable' and must explain how it arrived at the monthly amount, or at least from the record, allow us to make this determination ourselves. *Id.* Appellant challenges the latter of these requirements arguing that the court abused its discretion by failing to make findings specifically delineating which expenses the court used to determine Ms. Rehn's monthly needs."

Rehn v. Rehn, 974 P.2d 306, 310 (Utah App. 1999)

Judge Allphin did not make any findings as to why he adjusted the travel expenses on the Husband's budget of \$400. The failure to do so constitutes an abuse of discretion. The court's arbitrary reduction of the Husband's budget by \$400, led to the court's conclusion that the Husband had \$621 per month more than his needs. (Findings of Fact,

paragraph 13, 14) It was because of this conclusion that the court ordered the Husband to pay \$600 more per month in alimony, raising the alimony from \$1,300 to \$1,900 per month. The court's failure to justify the reduction of the Husband's monthly needs, in conjunction with the court's failure to determine the Wife's ability to provide for her own needs, constitutes a clear abuse of discretion.

The Husband requests that the court find that the Husband's needs are as indicated on his budget sheet, without the reduction of \$400, or remand this matter back to the District Court for findings as to why the Husband's budget should be reduced by \$400.

**POINT III:
MARSHALING THE EVIDENCE.**

Rule 24(a)(9) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure requires that a party challenging a finding of fact, marshal all evidence that supports the challenged finding. (See also *Child v. Child*, 194 P.3d 205 (Utah App. 2008) It is the Husband's position that the court did not make findings of fact as to the Wife's ability to earn an income and contribute to her own support, and the court did not provide any reason why it reduced the Husband's budget by \$400. The court's failure to make sufficient findings of fact constitutes an abuse of discretion. The court's failure to make sufficient findings of fact would not require the Husband to marshal evidence.

In the event that this court believes that the Husband does have an obligation to marshal evidence, the Husband will attempt to fulfill that requirement.

The Wife was 52 years of age at the time of trial. (Respondent's Exhibit 11, page 2)

The last job of any significance held by the Wife was prior to the parties' marriage, in approximately 1975, when she sold pop behind the Newgate Mall. (Transcript, page 40) During the course of the marriage, she had worked for a short period of time, as a care giver, for her sister's boy. She received some minimal training, and worked about 2 hours per day, about every other day, for approximately two months. She earned \$300. (Transcript, page 41-42) The Wife was required by the probation department to complete her GED, which she did, about 1-1½ years before the divorce trial, and to obtain full time employment. She worked at the Subway job 1½ days, before voluntarily quitting. (Transcript, page 41-45, 65-66, 71) The Wife testified that from the filing of the Divorce Decree, she had not attempted to take any training, because she did not have the money to do so, and because she was trying to help her adult kids, who were strung out on heroin, and needed help desperately. (Transcript, page 72) The Wife testified that she had not applied for a job since January of 2003, but that she would like to get a job. (Transcript, page 69-70)

The Wife's reasonable monthly needs are \$2,238. The court made this finding in paragraph 15 of the Findings of Fact, and neither party challenged the court's findings in this regard. The court found that the wife had sufficient ability to get a part time job to supplement her needs. (Findings of Fact, paragraph 16)

The evidence marshaled in favor of the Wife demonstrates that she did not have a work history during the course of the marriage, that she did work for Subway for 1½ days before she voluntarily quit, and that she wants to find employment, even though she has made no efforts to do so from January 2003 through the time of the trial. The Wife also

presented evidence that she had injured her thumb when throwing an object, but no evidence was produced during the trial indicating that her injured thumb impaired her ability to obtain employment. All of these factors could have been taken into consideration by the trial judge in determining the Wife's ability to contribute to her own support. It is not known whether the court considered these factors, since the court did not discuss in its findings of fact, the Wife's ability to hold a full time job, or the income she could earn from doing so. The court did find that she could hold a part time job to supplement her income, but did not indicate why the job would have to be part time, nor indicate why she could only make \$338 per month at a part time job.

The Wife did not claim that she did not want to work, or could not work. The Wife's attorney stated in his closing argument that the Wife's earning capacity was approximately \$6.40 or \$6.50 per hour. \$6.50 per hour would result in the Wife making a gross income of \$13,520 per year, or \$1,126 per month, which would be less than the current minimum wage of \$6.55 per hour, which would result in a gross income of \$1,135 per month. (Transcript, page 202)

No evidence was produced by the Wife to challenge the budget submitted by the Husband. The Wife's attorney made no objection when that budget was introduced, and did not question the Husband as to the reasonableness of that budget. It is difficult to marshal evidence for the Wife when no evidence was presented contrary to the Husband's testimony of his monthly needs.

If the court were to accept all of the evidence in favor of the Wife, as set forth herein,

that evidence does not justify Judge Allphin's failure to determine the Wife's ability to earn an income and contribute to her needs. In addition, it does not justify Judge Allphin's failure to create findings justifying why he would reduce the Husband's budget by \$400 per month for travel.

CONCLUSION