2008

# Jennifer Hawks v. Jeff Hawks : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

## ISSUES PRESENTED

In his appeal from the trial court's decree of divorce, Respondent / Appellant Jeff Hawks ("Jeff") presents two issues:

He claims that the trial court erred in awarding Petitioner / Appellee Jenifer Hawks ("Jenifer") alimony without making a determination of her earning capacity; and

He claims that the court erred in removing an expense which he had claimed in his budget. The expense was for \$400 per month for travel expenses.

## DETERMINATIVE LAW

Utah Code Ann. §30-3-5

Hoagland v. Hoagland, 852 P.2d 1025, 1027 (Utah App. 1993)

Newman v. White Water Whirlpool, 2008 UT 79, ¶14, \_\_\_ P.3d \_\_\_

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a divorce case which ended a 35-year marriage. Jeff had worked throughout the marriage and earned over \$70,000 per year. Jenifer had been a housewife throughout the marriage. Except for a brief part-time job caring for a nephew about ten years before the end of the marriage, she had not worked outside the home since the 1970s.

Although the parties agreed on many of the issues, they could not agree on the amount of alimony which Jeff should pay to Jenifer.

A trial was held in this matter on May 15, 2008. At the close of the trial, the court took the matter under advisement. The next day the trial court made a decision on the matter in a video-recorded ruling. Copies of the ruling were sent to the attorneys for the parties. As part of the court's ruling, it ordered Jeff to pay alimony of \$1,900 per month. The court also excluded an expense which Jeff had claimed of \$400 for travel expenses.

Following the trial court's ruling, Jeff's attorney prepared Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and a Decree of Divorce. The judge signed those on July 2, 2008 and they were entered the same day.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Although the trial court did not make a finding regarding the exact amount that Jenifer could earn, its findings on her ability to earn a living and her needs are sufficient to meet the abuse of discretion standard. Furthermore, the trial court's decision to give minimal weight to Jeff's expert testimony regarding Jenifer's earning potential was reasonable given the expert's admission that she did not have an interview with Jenifer or follow her usual practice in making an evaluation of Jenifer's earning potential.

The trial court's explained its decision to reduce Jeff's expenses by \$400 in its ruling of May 16, 2008. The fact that this was not included in the Findings of Fact and the Conclusions of Law and the Decree is attributable to Jeff because his attorney was assigned to prepare those documents. Under the invited error doctrine, the court should refuse to consider an assignment of error when the party who is complaining of the error contributed to the alleged error.

## **ARGUMENT**

In this appeal, Jeff raises two issues: 1) that the trial court erred by entering an alimony order without making a determination of the amount that Jenifer could earn, and 2) that the trial court erred in removing one of Jeff's claimed expenses from his budget. Neither of these claimed errors amounts to much and this court should affirm the order of the trial court.

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT MADE A SUFFICIENT FINDING OF JENIFER'S EARNING CAPACITY.**

Throughout the cases dealing with alimony, the appellate courts have stressed that the determination of an alimony award is a fact-sensitive decision. See, e.g., Hoagland v. Hoagland, 852 P.2d 1025, 1027 (Utah App. 1993) ("because the issue [of alimony] is 'fact-sensitive' and because the court must consider 'all relevant facts and equitable principles,' we defer to the court's sound discretion in determining the parties' standard of living.") (citing Howell v. Howell, 806 P.2d 1209 (Utah App.), cert. denied, 817 P.2d 327 (Utah 1991)).

In making an alimony determination, the court must examine the factors listed in Utah Code Ann. §30-3-5(8), which are:

- (i) the financial condition and needs of the recipient spouse;
- (ii) the recipient's earning capacity or ability to produce income;
- (iii) the ability of the payor spouse to provide support;
- (iv) the length of the marriage;
- (v) whether the recipient spouse has custody of minor children requiring support;
- (vi) whether the recipient spouse worked in a business owned or operated by the payor spouse; and



(vii) whether the recipient spouse directly contributed to any increase in the payor spouse's skill by paying for education received by the payor spouse or allowing the payor spouse to attend school during the marriage.

Utah Code Ann. §30-3-5(8)(a).

In addition, “the court shall consider all relevant facts and equitable principles” in making an alimony determination (Utah Code Ann. §30-3-5(8)(c)), and “The court may, under appropriate circumstances, attempt to equalize the parties’ respective standards of living” (Utah Code Ann. §30-3-5(8)(d)).

In making his arguments, Jeff focuses exclusively on paragraph (ii) of subsection (a), which requires the trial court to consider the earning capacity of the recipient spouse. Jeff takes the position that a court’s findings on this matter are insufficient unless the court makes a finding of the specific dollar amount which the recipient spouse could earn. This position is unsupported by the text of the statute or either of the cases which he cites in support of his argument on this issue. This position also discounts the importance of the other factors which the court must consider in making an alimony determination and the balancing of all of these factors in the intensely fact-specific determination of the amount of alimony.

The facts show that in this matter the court did consider Jenifer’s earning capacity in making its alimony determination. In this matter, the best indication of the court’s consideration of the elements involved in its alimony determination is the video-recorded ruling it made on May 16, the day following the trial. A transcript of this ruling is

attached as Exhibit "A." In the ruling the court stated the following in making its determination of alimony:

The only other issue before the Court is the issue of alimony.

The defendant makes approximately \$82,000 per year, and the Respondent -- excuse me. The Petitioner makes, at this point zero. The Respondent makes approximately \$82,055. Petitioner argued that the -- his -- that the Respondent's income ought to be split, and Petitioner -- or Respondent argued that there ought to be some imputed income to her.

The court, as it looks at the budget, finds that the Respondent -- excuse me, the Petitioner has the ability to work and to earn some income, and if the Respondent -- or if the Court were to split the Respondent's income right down the middle, that there would -- he would not have sufficient income to satisfy his needs. It's like killing the goose that laid the golden egg, and it wouldn't make sense to the Court to -- to divide income equally.

She's still relatively young, and even though it's a 30-year marriage, she has the ability to work, as was testified to by an expert. And the Court will find that she's going to have to do that in order to make ends meet.

The Court will find that he makes \$82,055, and I'm going to use a figure of 75 percent that he would see after taxes, divided by 12 would be \$5, 128.43. If you take from that the alimony, the \$1,300 that leaves him with \$3, 828.43.

I'm going to find that he has reasonable expenses of \$3,207. I -- it looked to me like he has counted travel twice. He's got \$400 for travel, and then he has a whole lot of expenses for a vehicle and other such circumstances. And so I'll find that he has the ability to pay an additional \$600 in alimony.

She has needs of \$2,238. She's currently received alimony in the amount of \$1,300, which leaves a need of \$938. If I give her an additional \$600 a month in alimony, that will leave her with -- short about \$338, and *the Court will find that she has sufficient ability to even get a part-time job to supplement that income.* That would make her whole.

The Court finds that this is a compromise between the -- the actual splitting of income and the -- only giving her exactly -- well, it's -- it's -- giving her what was previously ordered of \$1,300.

The Court finds that she has more needs than that, even though she has the ability to work, and so it's somewhat of a compromise. This is a 30-year marriage, and the Court needs to take into consideration that.

And so the Court will order a total of \$1,900 per month, to be paid beginning with the month of may and thereafter for the term of the marriage; 30 years.

And I believe that's all that I was asked to determine.

Exhibit “A” at 4:25 - 7:5 (emphasis added).

From this excerpt from the court’s ruling, it is clear that, although the court did not make a finding regarding the specific dollar amount that Jenifer could earn, it did consider her earning capacity. The court specifically found that Jenifer’s needs were \$2,238. In spite of this fact, the court awarded her alimony of only \$1,900. The court found that she had the capacity to earn a sufficient amount to make up the difference.

In the court’s ruling in this matter, it is also clear that the court is trying to incorporate some of the other factors in Utah Code Ann. §30-3-5(8) into its ruling. The court specifically mentions the need to equalize the parties’ standard of living and the need to take into account the length of the parties’ marriage.

Furthermore, it appears that Jeff simply expects the court to accept his expert’s testimony regarding Jenifer’s ability to earn a living. In taking this position, Jeff expects the court to ignore obvious problems with the expert’s testimony. The expert admitted that the only conversation she had with Jenifer was a five- to ten-minute telephone conversation with Jenifer on the phone. The expert also admitted that she had completed none of the vocational testing which she usually completes with people she is examining in order to make a vocational evaluation. See Transcript at 163. Given these admitted failings, it is obvious that the expert’s opinion had no substantial basis—although the expert

may have had some expertise the area of vocational assessments, she had not taken the steps which even she acknowledged were necessary to adequately apply that expertise. Under those circumstances, the court would have been entirely justified in ignoring the expert's opinion. The court did not choose to do this—the court relied on the expert to conclude that Jenifer could work, but placed an appropriately minimal emphasis on the expert's conclusions about Jenifer's earning potential.

Because the trial court adequately considered Jenifer's earning potential, there was no error and the trial court's determination of alimony.

## **II. THE COURT JUSTIFIED ITS EXCLUSION OF JEFF'S TRAVEL EXPENSE.**

Jeff's second issue on this appeal is that the trial court excluded an expense which he claimed for \$400 per month in travel expenses. Jeff claims that the court provided no justification for its action and that the exclusion of this expense therefore represents reversible error.

A review of the court's ruling in this matter, however, indicates that the trial court did justify its exclusion of the travel expense. The trial court specifically stated

I—it looked to me like he had counted travel twice. He's got \$400 for travel, and then he has a whole lot of expenses for vehicle and other such circumstances.

Exhibit "A" at 6:5-7.

Based on the court's conclusion that Jeff had double-counted his travel expenses, the exclusion of the \$400 in travel expenses was justified and there was no abuse of the trial court's discretion in determining Jeff's expenses.

Although the court's justification for excluding the travel expense was not included in the court's Findings of Fact, this omission must be laid at Jeff's feet. Jeff's attorney was given the responsibility for preparing the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. See Exhibit "A" at 7:8-10. It would be unjust to allow Jeff to leave out one of the court's findings in preparing the documents and then claim the omission as an error which would justify the reversal of the court's decision. See Newman v. White Water Whirlpool, 2008 UT 79, ¶14, \_\_\_ P.3d \_\_\_ ("The invited error doctrine prohibits parties from 'taking advantage of an error committed at trial when that party led the trial court into committing the error'") (citing Tschaggeny v. Milbank Ins. Co., 2007 UT 37, ¶12, 163 P.3d 615).

In this matter, Jeff led the trial court into omitting its finding on his travel expenses by failing to include that finding in the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law he prepared for the court's signature. He cannot take advantage of that error to win a reversal of the court's decision on that matter. The court should therefore disregard Jeff's claim of error in the matter of the exclusion of his travel expenses.

### **CONCLUSION**

The trial court did not commit reversible error. Although the trial court did not make a finding of the exact dollar amount that Jenifer could have earned, it is clear that

the court adequately considered her earning capacity along with the other factors described in Utah Code Ann. §30-3-5(8) in making its alimony determination. Under the invited error doctrine, Jeff cannot rely on the exclusion of the justification for the court's decision to exclude his travel expenses when he prepared the document in which he claims the error was made. For these reasons, the court should affirm the trial court's alimony and expense determinations in this matter.